IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA. 74,863 CASE NO. FLORIDA BAR NO. 152395 EDERLE LABORATORIES, Petitioner, 'S . NDAM BOGORFF, etc., KJELL (OCH, M.D., and THE UNIVERSITY) S)F MIAMI OC. Respondents. Deputy Clark PETITIONER, LEDERLE LABORATORIES' 1 **BRIEF ON JURISDICTION AND APPENDIX** 'n PAUL R. REGENSDORF, of Fleming, O'Bryan & Fleming Attorneys for Petitioner, LEDERLE Post Office Drawer 7028 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33338 (305 764-3000 & 945-2686

1

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This action arises out of the claimed malpractice by Dr. KOCH while he was on the UNIVERSITY faculty. (LA-2). BOGORFF had leukemia, and in 1971 and January of 1972, Dr. KOCH administered several doses of Methotrexate (a drug manufactured by LEDERLE) into the boy's spine and used x-rays in conjunction with that treatment. Id. Shortly after the last injection, BOGORFF began to lose neurological function, and eventually lapsed into a coma (from which he has partially recovered). Id.

In the summer of 1972, Mr. BOGORFF, who was a university librarian, came to see Dr. KOCH with a medical journal article suggesting a possible link between Methotrexate and the minor BOGORFF's condition. Dr. KOCH read the article, threw it in a

'The UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI has instituted its own discretionary review proceeding on different grounds.

²Dr. KOCH has joined in the discretionary review proceeding instituted by the UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI.

- 1 -

trash can, and told Mr. BOGORFF that the Methotrexate treatment nad no relationship to the boy's problems. (LA-3).

No complaint for products liability against LEDERLE, or for medical malpractice against Dr. KOCH or the UNIVERSITY was filed until December of **1982**. However, from **1973** to **1977**, a number of letters and reports were exchanged among BOGORFF's doctors which identified the boy's condition as being possibly secondary to the use of Methotrexate in conjunction with radiation. The BOGORFFS claim not to have seen these letters until **1982**, but, after examining them, they understood them and filed a malpractice action against Dr. KOCH and the UNIVERSITY and a products liability action against LEDERLE. (LA-3, 14-15).

All Defendants raised a statute of limitations defense and the trial court in 1986 reentered summary judgments for all Defendants. (LA-5). On April 18, 1989, the Third District, in a 2-1 decision, reversed the summary judgments. The Court concluded that the alleged action of Dr. KOCH in throwing away the medical journal article and in telling Mr. BOGORFF that the Methotrexate treatment was unrelated to the boy's condition could have been found by the jury to be fraudulent concealment. Thus, Dr. KOCH (and the UNIVERSITY responsible for his actions) could be barred from asserting the statute of limitations defense subject to a jury's resolution of the concealment and notice issues. (LA-8).

As to LEDERLE, the Court stated that the twelve year statute of repose period had not run (an issue <u>never</u> raised by LEDERLE in the Third District) and concluded that the "moment of trauma" and

- 2 -

:he "moment of realization" may not have occurred by December of .978 (four years prior to the time the suit was filed). (LA-9-LO).

After motions for rehearing and for clarification were lenied, this discretionary review proceeding was commenced.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

More than four years before the Plaintiffs in this cause filed their products liability action against LEDERLE, the minor's medical records contained clear and unmistakable reports (later seen and, by their own admission, understood by them) that their son's condition was possibly secondary to the Methotrexate treatment. Notwithstanding the presence of this information in the minor's records, the Third District reversed a summary judgment in favor of LEDERLE on the statute of limitations defense.

This decision is in conflict with <u>Nardone v. Reynolds</u>, 333 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1976), (L-26), in that <u>Nardone</u>, and cases thereafter, impute as a matter of law the information contained in a minor's records to the parents and only stop the statute of limitations from running <u>as against those defendants</u> who fraudulently conceal or misrepresent the nature or cause of the patient's condition. LEDERLE neither participated in, nor ratified, nor was even aware of the alleged misrepresentation by Dr. KOCH and, therefore, is not estopped from asserting the defense of the statute of limitations in this cause.

- 3 -

ARGUMENT

POINT ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THIS COURT IN <u>NARDONE V. REYNOLDS</u>, **333** So.2d 25 (Fla. 1976) IN THAT THE ALLEGED MISREPRESENTATION BY THE PLAINTIFF'S DOCTOR AS TO A MINOR'S CONDITION (WHICH BARS THE DOCTOR FROM ASSERTING SUCCESSFULLY A STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS DEFENSE) HAS BEEN CHARGED AGAINST A DRUG MANUFACTURER INNOCENT OF AND IN NO WAY CONNECTED WITH THE ALLEGED MISREPRESENTATION SO AS TO PRECLUDE IT FROM OBTAINING A SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON A STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS GROUND.

The demonstration of conflict between the decision below and the decision of this Court in <u>Nardone v. Reynolds</u>, **333** So.2d 25 (Fla. 1976) requires the realization of several basic points:

1. LEDERLE is not a health care provider and had no confidential relationship with the BOGORFFS.

2. LEDERLE is neither responsible for, nor in anywise linked with any charges of fraud, misrepresentation, or concealment leveled at Dr. KOCH and the UNIVERSITY. To necessarily suggest that there is responsibility on the part of the drug manufacturer for such a doctor's (alleged) conduct turns the "learned intermediary" doctrine on its head.3

3. There has been no suggestion that LEDERLE in any capacity hindered or kept the BOGORFFS from having full and complete access to their son's medical records at all times from 1971 through December of 1982, when this suit was filed.

The law in Florida on the two major points which compel a

³The only suggestion in the District Court of any even <u>liability-producing</u> conduct on the part of LEDERLE was an alleged misstatement in a Physicians' Desk Reference description of the drug published well prior to the injections in question. There is no allegation nor proof that that had any part to play in any post-injection fraud or concealment.

- 4 -

summary judgment for LEDERLE is found in <u>Nardone v. Reynolds</u>, 333 So.2d 25 (Fla. **1976**). Although <u>Nardone</u> case addressed a number of issues highly pertinent to the Third District's decision below, the two primary points are this Court's conclusion that:

Knowledge of the medical, doctor, hospital, etc., records concerning the incompetent minor patient which are of a character as to be obtainable by, or available to, the patient, the contents of which are not known should be imputed to the parents, etc.

333 So.2d at 34, and

2

The philosophy behind the exception to the statute of limitations of fraudulent concealment and tolling of the statute if such concealment exists, is <u>courts will</u> not protect defendants who are directly responsible for the delays of filing because of their own willful acts. The purpose of the statutes of limitations are to protect defendants against unusually long delays in filing of lawsuits and to prevent unexpected enforcement of stale claims concerning which interested persons have been thrown off guard for want of reasonable prosecution.

333 So.2d at 36. See also Buck v. Mouradian, 100 So.2d 70 (Fla.

3d DCA 1958).

The record before this Court, as spelled out in the decision of the Third District, is that by <u>no later than</u> July, **1977**, the medical records of BOGORFF clearly contained the opinion of at least one physician that Methotrexate was implicated in the minor BOGORFF's condition. Since the knowledge of the contents of these medical records is imputed as a matter of law to the BOGORFFS and since the records, if reviewed in **1977** demonstrated the possible link of Methotrexate to the boy's condition, and since these letters were in the minor BOGORFF's records <u>more than</u> four years prior to the filing of the products liability case against LEDERLE, the BOGORFFS' moment of trauma and moment of realization coincided such as to put them on legal notice that they should explore the possibility of a suit against LEDERLE within four years from that date. They did not.

The only plausible reason for the Third District's avoiding this decision is that that court imputed to LEDERLE the same estoppel effect that Dr. KOCH's alleged misrepresentation had on his statute of limitations defense. This conclusion is inescapable because, of the page and one-half devoted in the **opinion** below to LEDERLE, almost all of it is addressed to a statute of repose issue <u>which was never argued or raised</u> by LEDERLE in the court below. The inclusion of it in the Third District's decision <u>can only mean</u> that the court was insuring that twelve years had not passed from the delivery of the drug to Dr, KOCH. Otherwise the fraudulent concealment it was ascribing to LEDERLE would be barred by the statute of repose.

What the Third District has done is to turn the learned intermediary doctrine on its head and hold a drug manufacturer responsible for a doctor's alleged misrepresentation to a patient concerning a pharmaceutical product administered by the doctor. Hee <u>Felix v. Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc.</u>, 540 So.2d 102 (Fla. 1989). This reverse imputation of vicarious responsibility is absolutely inprecedented in Florida law.

As this Court carefully set out in <u>Nardone</u>, the reason 'raudulent concealment or misrepresentation by a doctor precludes he utilization of a statute of limitations defense <u>by that</u> <u>octor</u> is that "courts will not protect defendants <u>who are</u> irectly responsible for the delays of filing because of their

- 6 -

wwn willful acts." 333 So.2d at 36. Whatever the law may be with respect to the alleged conduct of Dr. KOCH and his employer, LEDERLE was innocent of any fraudulent concealment and has in fact not even been alleged to have been involved in any way with it. Other than supplying the medication which the Plaintiffs claim was used in this case, LEDERLE was neither alleged nor proven to have had any involvement after the administration of the Methotrexate, with any alleged misrepresentation or concealment, nor did LEDERLE in any way restrict or inhibit the access of the BOGORFFS to their medical records at any time from 1972 through December of 1978 (four years prior to the complaint being filed).

In short, the decision of the Third District is in direct, express, and jurisdictional conflict with this Court's decision in <u>Nardone</u> because the BOGORFFS' medical records were at all times fully available to them, because those records implicated Methotrexate as a cause or a possible **cause**,⁴ because the BOGORFFS are charged as a matter of law with the contents of those records, and because LEDERLE was in no way connected with or responsible for any alleged conduct which might estop some other defendant from asserting a statute of limitations defense. This Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and proceed to merit briefing on this petition.

POLICY REASONS FAVORING DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

⁴A plaintiff, of course, does not need to know of a valid claim to a legal certainty, because that doesn't occur until after a trial. See <u>Steiner v. Ciba-Geigy Corp.</u>, 364 So.2d 47 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978).

As this Court clearly stated in <u>Nardone</u>, the philosophical basis for estopping a defendant in a fiduciary relationship from asserting the defense of statute of limitations in the face of fraudulent concealment by that defendant is that no wrongdoer should be allowed to benefit from his own wrong; that is, no defendant should be allowed to directly cause a plaintiff to delay the filing of an action against it and then be able to assert successfully the statute of limitations as an affirmative defense.

Those policy reasons, however, are absent where, as here, the defendant is a drug manufacturer, legally and physically separated from the plaintiff in all respects. Were the rule and reason of the Third District decision to be allowed to continue, the learned intermediary doctrine would not only be stood on its head, it would create a reverse conduit for drug manufacturer liability where no vicarious relationship with the doctor exists.

By taking discretionary review in this case, the Court will have an opportunity to restore the <u>Nardone</u> rule and again bring Florida in line with those cases which consistently hold that only the defrauding or misrepresenting party is estopped from raising the defense of statute of limitations. See, e.g., <u>Burns</u> <u>v. Hartford Hospital</u>, 192 Conn. 451, 472 A.2d 1257 (1984) ("the act of an independent intervening third party, who may have misled the plaintiff about the injury's seriousness or even zompounded the harm by failing to render effective treatment, zannot extend the hospital's liability beyond the statutory limitation."); Stoneman v. Collier, 94 Mich. App. 187, 288 N.W.2d

- 8 -

1-05 (1979) ("fraudulent concealment act does not operate against persons who do not participate in the concealment"); Smith v. Sinai Hospital of Detroit, 152 Mich. App. 716, 394 N.W.2d 82 (1986) ("a defendant cannot be penalized for the fraudulent acts of third parties in concealing the defendant's identity where the defendant played no part"); Greenfield v. Kanwit, 87 F.R.D. 129 (S.D. N.Y. 1980) ("The purpose of the doctrine of fraudulent concealment is to prevent a party from profiting from his own wrong" (emphasis the Court's)); Smith, Miller & Patch v. Lorentzson, 254 Ga. 111, 327 S.E.2d 221 (1985) (under Georgia statute, alleged fraud of ophthalmologist as to a drug is not imputable to the manufacturer so as to toll the statute of limitation); Cato v. South Atlantic & Gulf Coast District of the International Longshoremens' Association, 364 F.Supp. 489 (S.D. Tex.), aff'd 485 F.2d 583 (5thCir, 1973). See also 51 Am.Jur. 2d § 150, Limitations of Actions.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully urged that this Court exercise its discretionary jurisdiction, order full merit briefing on this cause and, upon review, quash the decision of the Third District and reinstate the summary judgment in favor of the Defendant, LEDERLE LABORATORIES.

FLEMING, O'BRYAN & FLEMING Attorneys for LEDERLE Post Office Drawer 7028 Fort Lauderdate, FL 33338 (305) 764-2000 By: Paul R. Regensoorf

- 9 -

INDEX TO APPENDIX

LA-1	-	Opinion	of	Third	District	Court	of	Appeal