IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NOS.: 74,797, 74,835, 74,863 (consolidated)

KJELL KOCH, M.D., UNIVERSITY OF MIAMI, LEDERLE LABORATORIES,

Petitioners,

VS.

ADAM BOGORFF, a minor, by and through his father and next friend, ROBERT BOGORFF, and ROBERT BOGORFF, individually,

Respondents.

File File

NOV. 13 1989 (

DLEAN, SOMEWE COURT

Deputy Clark

RESPONDENTS' JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

KRUPNICK, CAMPBELL, MALONE & ROSELLI, P.A.
Suite 100
700 Southeast Third Avenue
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316
(305) 763-8181
and
JOHN BERANEK, of
KLEIN, BERANEK & WALSH, P.A.
Flagler Center, Suite 503
501 South Flagler Drive
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(407) 659-5455

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

All of the facts are taken from the opinion of the Third District Court of Appeal as included in the appendix to the opposing briefs. (A 1-25). Adam Bogorff was a three and a half year old child diagnosed as having leukemia. In June of 1970, the Bogorffs began treatment with Dr. Koch of the University of Miami and Jackson Memorial Hospital. This treatment continued through (A 1,7 and footnote 8). Adam's leukemia was in remission 1978. when Dr. Koch began his treatment which included intrathecal injections of methotrexate along with cranial and spinal radiation. This treatment was to have catastrophic affects on Adam Bogorff, The child sustained encephalopathy with irreversible anatomical By 1979, Adam was a total quadriplegic, functioning at an infantile level, with brain damage, an absence of speech, and no chance for improvement. The treatment by Dr. Koch was negligent and Lederle Laboratories had indicated in the Physician's Desk Reference that intrathecal use of methotrexate was appropriate, despite the fact that the Federal Drug Administration had not approved such treatment. The negligence in question occurred in January of 1972.

The parents, while attempting to cope with Adam's leukemia, now faced an ever worsening parade of medical horribles. The child slipped in to a coma and was unable to walk or talk. Dr. Koch said this was due to his leukemia or a viral infection. An outside neurosurgeon was called in and also said the condition was due to the spread of leukemia to the brain. Mr. Bogorff was a librarian and randomly gathered articles dealing with leukemia and provided them to Dr. Koch. Although he had not read it, in the summer of 1972, Mr. Bogorff took an article to Dr. Koch which specifically dealt with the dangers of intrathecal use of methotrexate in a combination with radiation therapy. Dr. Koch read this article in the presence of Mr. Bogorff, threw it in a trash can, and strongly stated that his treatment had nothing to do with Adam's worsening medical condition.

Because of the absence of any improvement, the parents continued taking their child to other doctors. Some of these doctors wrote Dr. Koch advising of the possible connection between methotrexate and Adam's condition.

Despite Dr. Koch's continued care for the child through 1978 and his continual fiduciary duty to disclose relevant medical information, Dr. Koch never told the parents what had caused their son's ever worsening condition.

When the parents sought the medical records from Jackson Memorial Hospital, they were told that there were no records. It is these records which the defendants now say the parents had constructive notice of.

In July of 1977, Adam was taken to a nutritional specialist for a complete nutritional and metabolic study. The head of the department, Dr. Zee, wrote two letters on July 18, 1977. The letter to Mrs. Bogorff complimented her on her excellent care of Adam and made no mention of the irreversible state of Adam's medical condition. This letter of July 18, 1977 did not mention methotrexate. On the same day, Dr. Zee wrote a further letter to Dr. Winick where he noted the irreversible encephalopathy due to intrathecal methotrexate. This second letter was not seen by the Bogorffs and never mentioned to them by any of the physicians.

Finally, in 1982, under crushing financial obligations due to care for their son, the Bogorffs applied for financial aid through the Social Security Administration. In that process, all of the boy's medical records were obtained and the parents first became aware of the second Zee letter of July 1977. Suit was filed shortly thereafter in 1982.

The negligence in question occurred in January of 1972 and the statute of limitations applicable at that time was §95.11(4), Florida Statutes (1971) which provides:

(4) within four years. - any action for relief not specifically provided for in this chapter.

There was no statute of repose in this statute of limitations. This statute of limitations, governing the negligence in this case, existed from 1943 up through July of 1972 when it was amended by Chapter 71-254.

The trial court ruled by summary judgment that all claims were time barred. The Third District Court of Appeal reversed, finding that the case was governed by Section 95.11(4) which was a four year statute of limitations without a statute of repose. The Third District found factual issues as to (1) fraudulent concealment and (2) when the parents should have become aware of the accrual of the cause of action.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There was substantial evidence of fraudulent concealment on the part of Dr. Koch and numerous other medical professionals. There were obvious issues as to when the Bogorffs should have become aware of their cause of action particularly in the face of the fraudulent concealment and gross abuse of the fiduciary relationship between the physician and patient. Dr. Koch treated this child for seven years while his condition gradually worsened. He knew of his own negligence from the beginning and continued active care for the child without disclosing it. In fact, he

actively concealed it and also did not furnish the parents with the medical reports he received from other doctors.

This case is governed by §95.11(4) as it existed and applied in January 1972.

The case is not governed by §95.11(4)(b) as enacted effective May 20, 1975 in the Medical Malpractice Reform Act of 1985. Carr v. Broward County, 541 So.2d 92 (Fla. 1989) concerns medical negligence which occurred after May 20, 1975 and thus after the effective date of the Medical Malpractice Reform Act which initially created the statue of repose. The overpowering public necessity which required the 1985 Reform Act is not applicable to the medical negligence in question here which is governed by an entirely different statute.

No conflict exists with <u>Nardone v. Reynolds</u>, 333 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1976). In fact, <u>Nardone</u> was relied upon by the Third District in the <u>Boqorff</u> decision.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IS IN CONFLICT WITH <u>Carr v. Broward County</u>, 541 So.2d 92 (Fla. 1989) OR <u>Nardone v. Reynolds</u>, **333** So.2d 25 (Fla. 1976).

There is no conflict with the <u>Carr</u> opinions as issued by this court or by the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Further, <u>Phelan v. Hanft</u>, 471 So.2d 648 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), is not applicable. The important dates as to the negligence, discovery of the cause of action, and the filing of suit can be summarized in regard to the three cases as follows:

	<u>Bosorff</u>	<u>Carr</u>	<u>Phelan</u>
NEGLIGENCE	January 1972	December 1975	August 1976
DISCOVERY	February 1982	?	August 1981
SUIT	December 1982	September 1985	August 1983

It is obvious from the above that the negligence in <u>Carr</u> and <u>Phelan</u> occurred after May 20, 1985; the effective date of the Medical Malpractice Reform Act of 1975. Further, the negligence in <u>Bosorff</u> occurred substantially prior to the Malpractice Reform Act of 1975. What the opposing briefs refuse to recognize is that the statute of limitations in this case as specifically found by the Third District Court of Appeal was §95.11(4) which provided a four year statute of limitation with no statute of repose. The cause of action accrued on the date of discovery or when the

plaintiff should have discovered the cause of action under the circumstances. Factually, the date of discovery was in 1982 when the Dr. Zee report (which had intentionally not been disclosed by the medical professionals) was finally seen.

This may well be the last medical malpractice case in existence governed by the statute as it existed prior to the first amendment thereto which was effective July 1, 1972. The malpractice statute of limitations existed unchanged from 1943 up to July 1, 1972 when the first amendment occurred pursuant to Chapter 71-254. Subsequent amendments occurred in Chapter 74-382 and the Malpractice Reform Act in Chapter 75-9.

It is obvious that the statute of repose, which became effective May 20, 1975, applied to the negligence in <u>Carr</u> and in <u>Phelan</u> which occurred after that date. The statute simply has no application to the Boqorff case.

The <u>Carr</u> opinion was based on the legislative finding of an overpowering public necessity" and a medical malpractice insurance crisis of the "past few months." This was a <u>current</u> crisis. The medical negligence in both <u>Carr</u> and <u>Phelan</u> occurred after the effective date of the statute and within the crisis. The <u>Boqorff</u> negligence occurred before the statute and not within the crisis period.

The amendments to the medical malpractice statute of limitations have been held not to have retroactive effect. As cited by the Third District, see <u>Dade County v. Ferro</u>, 384 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 1980); <u>Foley v. Morris</u>, 339 So.2d 215 (Fla. 1976) and <u>Hellinger v. Fike</u>, 503 So.2d 905 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), <u>review denied</u>, 508 So.2d 14 (Fla. 1987).

There is no conflict with the <u>Carr</u> decision because a totally different statute applies due to the date of the medical negligence. Thus, review as requested by Dr. Koch and the University of Miami should be denied.

Lederle Laboratories manufactured and disseminated the drug with an inappropriate PDR direction for intrathecal use. Lederle asserts conflict with Nardone v. Reynolds, supra, arguing that the Bogorffs were on notice of all of the medical reports and that Dr. Zee's July 17, 1989 letter was sufficient notice to support the summary judgment. Although the District Court opinion deals with the two letters written by Dr. Zee on the same date, the Lederle brief refuses to take notice of this fact. Whether a parent should realize that a physician would write one letter to the parent of a complimentary and vague nature simultaneously while writing another letter to a doctor pointing out irreversible brain damage due to the treating doctor's care, at least presents an issue of fact. Further, the Bogorffs tried to obtain medical reports and were told by the hospital that there were no records. Certainly,

this disappearance is a factual mystery. There are obviously no statute of repose considerations regarding Lederle Laboratories which asserts conflict only with Nardone. Whether applicable or not, the products liability statute of repose is 12 years.

In actuality, the Lederle brief is more a brief on the merits than it is a conflict brief. Six cases from outside the state of Florida are argued. Obviously, these arguments have no place in a jurisdictional brief. See <u>Dodi Publishing Company v. Editorial America, S.A.</u>, 385 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 1980).

CONCLUSION

Conflict does not exist and review should be denied.

and

JON E. KRUPNICK, of
KRUPNICK, CAMPBELL, MALONE
& ROSELLI, P.A.
Suite 100
700 Southeast Third Avenue
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316
(305) 763-8181

JOHN BERANEK, of KLEIN, BERANEK & WALSH, P.A. Flagler Center, Suite 503 501 South Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 659-5455

JOHN BERANEK

Fla. Bar No. 005419